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AMENDED PETITION FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Petitioner, National Association of Community Health Centers (“NACHC”), as an
association and authorized representative of its Federally-qualified health center (“FQHC”)
members, brings this action for equitable relief under Section 340B of the Public Health Service
(“PHS”) Act, 42 U.S.C. § 256b, pursuant to and in compliance with the procedures set forth in 42
C.F.R. § 10.21, and alleges as follows:

NATURE OF ACTION

1. Petitioner seeks equitable relief to remedy ongoing and unlawful overcharging ac-

tivity by drug manufacturers Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC, and AstraZeneca PLC——collectively, “the

drug manufacturers”—each of which, as described more fully below, has restricted FQHC covered



entity access to covered outpatient drugs at federal 340B drug discount program (“340B” or “340B
Program”) pricing by refusing to offer covered outpatient drugs for FQHC covered entity purchase
at or below the applicable ceiling price whenever the FQHC covered entity will dispense the drugs
to its patients through contract pharmacy arrangements.

2. The drug manufacturers’ actions constitute unlawful overcharging and a clear vio-
lation of both the 340B statute and the binding pharmaceutical pricing agreements (“PPAs”) be-
tween manufacturers and the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”)
that statute requires. The 340B statute, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 256b, and the PPAs (which simply
incorporate 340B statutory requirements) require that manufacturers “offer each covered entity
covered outpatient drugs for purchase at or below the applicable ceiling price if such drug is made
available to any other purchaser at any price.” 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1). The drug manufacturers
cannot impose their own unilateral conditions or restrictions on this unequivocal statutory require-
ment.

3. FQHC covered entities are statutorily required to provide “pharmaceutical services
as may be appropriate for particular centers” and authorized to provide those services either
through their own staff, through “contracts or cooperative arrangements” with other entities, or
through a combination of the two approaches. 42 U.S.C. § 254b(a)(1), (b)(1)(A)(1)(V).

4. HHS has long recognized that FQHCs are statutorily afforded the flexibility to pro-
vide pharmacy services to their patients through contractual arrangements with private pharmacies,
instead of—or in addition to—doing so through an in-house pharmacy owned by the health center.

5. The drug manufacturers have acted strikingly similarly, if not in concert, to limit
the FQHC covered entities’ ability to purchase drugs at 340B pricing when those drugs will be

dispensed to eligible FQHC patients via contracted pharmacies. The drug manufacturers’ actions,



taken close in time, form part of the same series of transactions or occurrences, and the Adminis-
trative Dispute Resolution (“ADR”) Panel’s resolution of Petitioner’s joint claims against each
manufacturer will involve common issues of law and fact—namely whether prohibited overcharg-
ing in violation of the 340B statute results from the drug manufacturers’ refusal to provide covered
outpatient drugs at the 340B ceiling price to FQHC covered entities for drugs dispensed to such
entities’ patients via contract pharmacies. Accordingly, joinder of the drug manufacturers in this
single action is appropriate under Rule 20(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the
340B statute which provides that claims “shall be resolved fairly, efficiently, and expeditiously.”
42 U.S.C. § 256b(d)(3)(B)(ii); 42 C.F.R. § 10.21(e)(4).
PARTIES

6. Petitioner is a national, nonprofit corporation whose primary objective is to fur-
ther—through extensive education, training, and advocacy—the mission and purpose of FQHCs.
The FQHCs represented herein play a vital role in our nation’s health care safety-net by providing
primary and other health care and related services—including pharmaceutical services—to medi-
cally underserved populations throughout the nation and its territories, regardless of any individual
patient’s insurance status or ability to pay for such services. FQHCs have been recognized as 340B
Program covered entities since the 340B Program’s 1992 inception.

7. Petitioner brings this joint claim, as defined in 42 C.F.R. § 10.3 and authorized

under 42 C.F.R. § 10.21(e), on behalf of its FQHC covered entity members listed in Exhibit A.'

' NACHC submits this amended petition against AstraZeneca and Sanofi—and a separate, companion amended peti-
tion pertaining solely to its claims against Eli Lilly and Company—to comply with HRSA’s August 5, 2021 request
that NACHC separate its claims against Lilly from its claims against AstraZeneca and Sanofi so that the 340B panel
may proceed with adjudication of the latter notwithstanding the preliminary injunction issued by the district court in
Eli Lilly v. Azar, No. 1:21-cv-81 (S.D. Ind.) (filed Jan. 12, 2021). Per an August 24, 2021 email from Chantelle Brit-
ton, Senior Advisor in HRSA’s Office of Pharmacy Affairs, NACHC understands that its submission of these
amended petitions will relate back the original January 13, 2021 filing date. Copies of the relevant email correspond-
ence are attached as Exhibit J.



Each FQHC covered entity so listed could, on its own, bring claims against one or more of the
drug manufacturers for the equitable relief sought, has authorized NACHC to bring this joint claim
on its behalf, and otherwise meets applicable regulatory requirements for bringing this joint claim.

8. Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC (“Sanofi”) is a pharmaceutical manufacturer and partici-
pant in the 340B Program. Sanofi is headquartered in Bridgewater Township, New Jersey.

0. AstraZeneca PLC (“AstraZeneca”) is a limited partnership biopharmaceutical man-
ufacturer and participant in the 340B Program. AstraZeneca is organized under the laws of the
State of Delaware with its principal place of business in Wilmington, Delaware.

JURISDICTION

10. This panel has jurisdiction over Petitioner’s claims because, in accordance with the
requirements of 42 C.F.R. §§ 10.3 and 10.21: (1) the claims are based on the drug manufacturers’
unlawful overcharging activity, in particular their efforts to limit FQHC covered entities’ ability
to purchase covered outpatient drugs at or below 340B ceiling prices, and (2) the equitable relief
sought will likely have a value of more than $25,000 for each joint claimant FQHC covered entity

member of NACHC during the twelve-month period after the 340B ADR Panel’s final agency

decision.
ALLEGATIONS
L The 340B Program
11. The 340B Program exists to assist covered entities “to stretch scarce Federal re-

sources as far as possible, reaching more eligible patients and providing more comprehensive ser-
vices.” H.R. Rep. No. 102-384(II), at 12 (1992). Under the 340B Program, drug manufacturers
who wish to have their products covered by Medicare and Medicaid must provide covered outpa-

tient drugs at a discount to covered entities.



12. Such covered entities, defined at 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(4), include, at subsection
(a)(4)(1), “Federally-qualified health center[s] (as defined in section 1905(/)(2)(B) of the Social
Security Act [42 U.S.C. 1396d(/)(2)(B)]).”

13. For more than 20 years—from 1996 until mid-2020 when the prohibited overcharg-
ing activity leading to this Petition began—drug manufacturers, either directly or through whole-
sale distributors, have shipped FQHC-purchased covered outpatient drugs to FQHCs’ contract
pharmacies, i.e., third-party pharmacies with which FQHCs contract to dispense drugs to FQHC
patients. All but a handful of the hundreds of manufacturers participating in the 340B Program
under PPAs continue to do so.

14. Section 340B, at 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1), requires HHS to “enter into an agreement
with each manufacturer of covered outpatient drugs under which the amount required to be paid .
.. to the manufacturer for covered outpatient drugs . . . purchased by a covered entity . . . does not
exceed [the ceiling price].” Per that same statutory subsection, “[e]ach such agreement . . . shall
require that the manufacturer offer each covered entity covered outpatient drugs for purchase at or
below the applicable ceiling price if such drug is made available to any other purchaser at any
price.” That agreement is the PPA.

15. On May 17, 2021, HHS, through the Acting Administrator of HRSA, issued cease
and desist letters to six drug manufacturers, including letters to AstraZeneca and Sanofi. See HHS,
HRSA, 340B Drug Pricing Program, https://www.hrsa.gov/opa/index.html. Each letter provides,
in substance, that “HRSA has determined that [drug manufacturer] policies that place restrictions
on 340B Program pricing to covered entities that dispense medications through pharmacies under
contract have resulted in overcharges and are in direct violation of the 340B statute.” Id. The letter

to AstraZeneca is attached as Exhibit B. The letter to Sanofi is attached as Exhibit C.



16. The May 17, 2021 letters were written in response to the unlawful overcharging
activity underlying this Petition.

17. The view espoused in HRSA’s May 17, 2021 cease-and-desist letters is not novel;
it reiterates the longstanding and well-settled concept that covered entities, including FQHCs, have
the common law right to contract with third parties to provide services on their behalf, as HHS
recognized in 1996, reiterated in 2010, and reaffirmed through recent conduct including the cease-
and-desist letters to manufacturers.

18. HHS has repeatedly made clear that contract pharmacy arrangements are a con-
sistent and necessary outgrowth of the FQHC program’s authorizing statute, Section 330 of the
PHS Act, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 254b et seq., which requires FQHCs to provide pharmacy ser-
vices and which permits the provision of such services through “contracts or cooperative arrange-
ments” with other entities.

19. HHS is not alone in interpreting the plain language of a plainly written statute to
obligate the drug manufacturers to offer covered entities drugs at 340B pricing regardless of
whether those drugs are dispensed in-house or through a contract pharmacy arrangement. On Sep-
tember 14, 2020, numerous Members of Congress, weighing in on the drug manufacturer’s “series
of actions to restrict federally required 340B drug discounts for eligible health care organiza-
tions/covered entities”—i.e., the actions underlying this Petition—wrote:

the 340B statute requires manufacturers wishing to participate in Medicaid and Medicare

Part B to “offer each covered entity covered outpatient drugs for purchase at or below the

applicable ceiling price.” There are no provisions in the statute that allow manufacturers

to set conditions or otherwise impede a provider’s ability to access 340B discounts.
Letter from Members of Congress to Alex M. Azar II, Secretary, U.S. Dep’t Health & Human

Servs. at 1, Exhibit D (Sept. 14, 2020) (emphasis added). The letter, directed to the HHS Secretary,

strongly condemned the unlawful overcharging activity at issue here, noting that “[t]he recent



actions undermine the intended purpose of the 340B Drug Pricing Program. The Department of
Health and Human Services (HHS) must take immediate action to stop these companies from ei-
ther denying or limiting access to 340B pricing to hospitals, health centers, and clinics participating
in 340B.” Id. at 1.

IL. FQHC Participation in the 340B Program

20. The FQHC covered entities on whose behalf Petitioner brings this action, as indi-
cated in Exhibit A, purchase covered outpatient drugs from AstraZeneca and Sanofi. Certain of
the covered entities’ regular purchases—where applicable provider and patient eligibility elements
are satisfied—qualify for 340B discount pricing.

21. The FQHC covered entities represented herein utilize contract pharmacy arrange-
ments to fulfill some or all of their patients’ pharmaceutical dispensing needs, including the dis-
pensing of drugs eligible for 340B discount pricing.

22. Under their agreements with contract pharmacies, the covered entities (either di-
rectly or through a third-party administrator) order and pay for the 340B drugs and direct the ship-
ment of those drugs from the manufacturer (or wholesaler) to the contract pharmacy.

23. As Congress intended, the FQHC covered entities’ participation in the 340B Pro-
gram generates both savings and revenue at no cost to taxpayers: savings are realized when an
FQHC covered entity pays the ceiling price for a particular drug provided to an uninsured or un-
derinsured patient; revenue is generated on the spread between the ceiling price and any reim-
bursement at or above that price from third-party payers including the Medicare Program, Medi-
caid managed care organizations, or patients’ private insurance carriers.

24. Section 330 of the PHS Act obligates the FQHC covered entities to use any non-

grant or program income—e.g., revenue generated through public or private reimbursement for



services—in furtherance of their health care safety-net mission. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 254b(e)(5)(A)
(defining non-grant funds as “state, local, and other operational funding provided to the center”
and “fees, premiums, and third-party reimbursements . . . the center may . . . receive for its opera-
tions”), (D) (mandating that non-grant funds be used to further center’s project objectives).

III. The Drug Manufacturers’ Unlawful Overcharging

A. Sanofi

25. On or around July 2020 Sanofi announced that, effective October 1, 2020, it would
no longer permit covered entities to purchase covered outpatient drugs at or below 340B ceiling
prices for dispensing through the entities’ contract pharmacies unless the covered entities submit
claims data to Sanofi through third-party software vendor Second Sight Solutions. See Sanofi Let-
ter Re: 340B Program Integrity Initiative, Exhibit E.

26. Sanofi claims publicly that it needs this data to identify and prevent duplicate dis-
counts, but has no legal right to demand this information or to condition its statutory obligation to
offer covered outpatient drugs to covered entities at or below 340B ceiling prices on compliance
with its demands. HHS has long made clear that the 340B statute does not permit manufacturers
to impose any conditions on covered entities, including by, for example, conditioning the offer of
340B discounts on a covered entity’s assurance of compliance with 340B Program requirements.
See, e.g., Final Notice Regarding Section 602 of the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992 Entity
Guidelines, 59 Fed. Reg. 25110 (May 13, 1994); HRSA, 340B Drug Pricing Program, Manufac-

turer Resources, https://www.hrsa.gov/opa/manufacturers/index.html (last accessed Jan. 13,

2021); HRSA, 340B Drug Pricing Program Notice No. 2011-1.1 (May 23, 2012),

https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/opa/programrequirements/policyreleases/nondiscrimina-

tion05232012.pdf.




27. Sanofi’s conditioning of the FQHC covered entities’ ability to purchase its drugs at
340B pricing on participation in unsanctioned data sharing is an unlawful overcharge—i.e., a lim-
itation on the covered entities’ ability to purchase Sanofi drugs at or below applicable ceiling
prices—as defined in 42 C.F.R. § 10.21(c)(1). Sanofi’s conduct is the sort of overcharging HHS
referenced in 42 CFR § 10.11(b).

28. A list of NDCs impacted by Sanofi’s overcharging is attached as Exhibit F.

B. AstraZeneca

29. In or around August 2020, AstraZeneca informed the covered entities that, effective
October 1, 2020, it would no longer ship covered entities’ purchases of 340B discounted drugs to
the entities’ contract pharmacies. AstraZeneca followed through on its threat, with a limited ex-
ception for covered entities that lack any other pharmacy outlet to designate one single contract
pharmacy per covered entity. See AstraZeneca Letter Re: 340B Contract Pharmacy Pricing (Aug.
17,2020), Exhibit G.

30. AstraZeneca’s “exception” concedes that it is refusing to make its covered outpa-
tient drugs available to FQHC covered entities at or below 340B ceiling prices based on its unilat-
eral decision as to whether a covered entity’s use of contract pharmacies is permissible under the
340B Program. This documented action meets the definition of an overcharge included in 42
C.F.R. § 10.21(c)(1)—it is a “limit[ation on] the covered entity’s ability to purchase covered out-
patient drugs at or below the 340B ceiling price.” Like Sanofi’s actions, it too is the sort of over-
charging HHS referenced in 42 CFR § 10.11(b).

31. A list of NDCs impacted by AstraZeneca’s overcharging is attached as Exhibit H.



IV.  Harm to the FQHC Covered Entities

32. The drug manufacturers’ ongoing and unlawful overcharging activities have caused
and will continue to cause significant financial and other harms to the FQHC covered entities—
and their patients—so long as the manufacturers’ limitations on the entities’ purchases continue.

33. The differential between the non-discounted “wholesale acquisition cost” (“WAC”)
and 340B ceiling price for affected drugs can be enormous, even for commonly prescribed drugs
such as insulin, osteoporosis treatments, and asthma inhalers.

34, The cumulative financial harm to the FQHC covered entities caused by each drug
manufacturer, taken separately, will far surpass the de minimus regulatory threshold for equitable
relief—namely, an impact on the covered entity with an estimated value of $25,000 or more in the
twelve months following the 340B ADR Panel’s resolution of the claim.

35. A sample of WAC/340B price comparisons is attached as Exhibit I to further illus-
trate the value of the drug manufacturers’ sweeping restrictions on covered entity purchasing.

36. Indeed, several of the FQHC covered entities on whose behalf Petitioner brings this
joint claim anticipate that the equitable relief sought—i.e., the restoration of the covered entities’
access to Sanofi and AstraZeneca drugs at applicable 340B pricing for dispensing to their patients
at contract pharmacies—will have a far greater value than the estimated prospective threshold in
42 C.F.R. § 10.21(b).

37. Covered entity patients also stand to be harmed by cuts to non-reimbursable ser-
vices that FQHCs currently support with funds generated through 340B Program participation.
These services—which may be drastically reduced or eliminated entirely due to the drug manu-
facturers’ refusal to offer their drugs at 340B pricing—include, for example, medication therapy

management, behavioral health care, dental services, vaccinations, case management and care
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coordination services, translation/interpretation services for patients with limited English language
ability, and transportation assistance that enables patients to reach their health care appointments.
COUNT ONE: SANOFI

38. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1-37 above are re-alleged and incorporated
by reference herein.

39. By placing restrictions and conditions on the FQHC covered entities’ ability to
purchase covered outpatient drugs at or below applicable ceiling prices where those drugs will be
dispensed to eligible patients via contract pharmacies, Sanofi has violated and continues to vio-
late the requirement in 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1) that, per its statutorily-mandated PPA with HHS,
it “offer each covered entity covered outpatient drugs for purchase at or below the applicable
ceiling price if such drug is made available to any other purchaser at any price.”

COUNT TWO: ASTRAZENECA

40. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1-37 above are re-alleged and incorporated
by reference herein.

41. By restricting the FQHC covered entities’ ability to purchase covered outpatient
drugs at or below applicable ceiling prices where those drugs will be dispensed to eligible patients
via contract pharmacies, AstraZeneca has violated and continues to violate the requirement in 42
U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1) that, per its statutorily-mandated PPA with HHS, it “offer each covered entity
covered outpatient drugs for purchase at or below the applicable ceiling price if such drug is made
available to any other purchaser at any price.”

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

Petitioner respectfully requests equitable relief as follows:
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1. Declare that each FQHC covered entity is entitled to purchase the drug manufac-
turers’ covered outpatient drugs at 340B pricing to be dispensed to eligible patients through each
covered entity’s contract pharmacies.

2. Declare that Sanofi, by restricting the covered entities’ ability to purchase Sanofi
drugs at or below 340B ceiling prices unless the covered entities’ submit claims data to Sanofi
through a third-party vendor, as described, overcharged and continues to overcharge the FQHC
covered entities in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1).

3. Declare that AstraZeneca, by restricting the FQHC covered entities’ ability to pur-
chase drugs at or below applicable ceiling prices, as described in herein, overcharged and continues
to overcharge the FQHC covered entities in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1).

4. Order the drug manufacturers to comply with 42 U.S.C. § 256b(a)(1) and the terms
of their PPAs by removing all manufacturer-imposed qualifications, limitations, conditions, or re-
strictions on the FQHC covered entities’ ability to purchase covered outpatient drugs at or below
applicable ceiling prices.

5. Order such other equitable relief as the Panel deems just and proper.

Dated: August 31, 2021 Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Matthew S. Freedus
Matthew S. Freedus (DC 475887)
Rosie Dawn Griffin (DC 1035462)
Feldesman Tucker Leifer Fidell LLP
1129 20th St. NW, 4th Floor
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 466-8960 (p)
(202) 293-8103 (f)

mfreedus@feldesmantucker.com
reriffin@feldesmantucker.com

Attorneys for Petitioner
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